
UNITED STATES ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY 

REGION 4 
SAM ;-iUNN 

ATI.A:-HA FEDERAl. CENTER 
61 FORSYTH STREET 

ATLA~IA GEORGIA 5{rlOJ-8960 

MAR 012011 
CERTIfIED MAIL 
RETl!RN RECEIPT REQllESTEQ 

Mr. David Solana 
Roger Wood Foods. Inc. 
7 Alfred Slreet 
Savannah, Georgia 31402 

SuBJECT: 	 Roger Wood Foods, Inc, 
Cunsent Agreement and Final Order 
Docket No, EPCRA·04-2011-2033(b) 

Dear Mr. Solana: 

Enclosed plea~ fmd an executed copy Qfthe Coni:lcnt Agreement and f.inaI Order 
(CAFO) that resolves the Emergency PlaMing and Community Right·[o~Know Act of 19K6 
(EPCRA) matter ,DocKet No, EPCRA-04-2QII-2033(b» involving Roger Wood Foods, Inc, 
The CAPO was filed with the Regionai Hearing Clerk, as required by 40 C.F.R Part 22 and 
became effective on the date of the filing. 

Also endol:icd, please Hnd a copy of the "Notice of Securities and Exchange Commission 
Registrants' lJuty to Dist:lose Environmental Legal Proceedings." This document puts you on 
notice of your ptJ[ential duty to disclose (0 the Security and Exchange Commi:;sion (SEC) any 
environmental enforcement actions taken by the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). If 
yuu have any qucsti()fls with regards to the SEC's environmental disclosure requirements, you 
may refer to the contact phone number at the bottom of the SEC Notice, 

If you have any questions, please t:all Ms. Deanne Grant at (404) 562~9291, 

Enclo~uros 

IniQ!'nut AddfQSS (URL). hllp:iiWWW_-iJPQ,q6V 
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UNITED Sl'A TES EN\-lRONMENTAL PROl'EL'TION AGENCY 

REGION 4 


,"1 

IN THE MAlTER OF: ) 
) 

Roger Wood Food~ Inc. ) DocketNumber: EPCRA-04-2011-2033(b)" , -,
) -,. 

Re~pondent. ) r· , 

--~------~-------) 

CONSFJIT AGRE~I'lD'ND Elt;jAL QRDER 

1. This is a civil penalty proceeding pui'!lluant to Section 109 of the Comprehensive 
Environmental Response, Compensation. and Liability Act (CERCLA), as amended, 42 U,S.c. 
§ 9609 and Section 325 of the Emergency Planning and Community Right-to--Know Act 
(EPCRA), 42 U.S.c. § 11045 and pursuant to the Cunsolidated Rules of Practice Governing 
Administrative As...'ie5smcnt of Civil Penalties. and the Revocationffennination or Suspension of 
Permits (Consolidated Rules), codified at 40 C.F.R. Part 22. Complainant is the Director of the 
Air, Pesticides and Toxies Management Division, Region 4. United States Environmental 
Protection Agcllcy (EPA). Respondent is Roger Wood Food:. Inc, 

2. Complainant and Re!>pOltdent have conferred for the purpose of settlement 
pursuant to 40 C.ER. § 22.18(b) and desire to resolve this matter and settle the allegations 
described herein withQut a formal hearing. Therefore. without the taking of any evidence or 
testimony, the making of any argument, or the adjudication of any issue in this matter, and in 
accordance with 40 C.ER. n 22.13(0) and 22.18(0), this Consent Agreement and Final Order 
(CAFO) will simultaneously commem.:e and conclude this matter. 

II. Prelimmary Statements 

3. The autlmrity to take action under Section 109 ofCERCLA, 42 U.S,c. § 9609 and 
Section 325 ofEPCRA, 42 U.S.c. § 11045, is vested in thcAdministmtor of EPA The 
Administrator of EPA has delegated this authority under CERCLA and under EPCRA to the 
Regional Administrators by EPA Delegations 14-31 and 22-3-A both dated May 11, 1994. The 
Regional Administrator. Region 4. has redelegatcd to the Director. Air, Pesticide." and Toxies 
Management Division, the authority unuer CERCLA by EPA Region 4 Delegation 14-31 dated 
March 8,1999, and updated August 6, 2004, and the authority under EPCRA by EPA Region 4 
Delegation 22-3~A. dated November 8, 1994. Pursuant to these delegations, the Director (lfthe 
Air, Pesticide); and Toxics Management Division has the authority to commence an enforcement 
action a'\ the Complainant in this matter. 

4. Respondent, Roger Wood Foods Irn:•• is a corporation doing business in the State 
of Georgia, 



5. Respondent is. "person" as defined in Section 329(7) ofEPCRA, 42 U.S.C. 
§ 11049(7) and Section 101(21) of CERClA, 42 U.S.C. § 9601(21). 

6. Respondent has a "facility" as that tenn is defmed by Section 101(9) of CERCLA, 
42 U.S.c. § 9601(9) and by Section 329(4) ofEPCRA, 42 U.S.c. § 11049(4). 

7. Respondent's facility is located at 7 AlfTed Street, Savannah, Georgia 31402. 

8. Respondent is an '-'-owner or operator" of the fadlity as that term is defined by 
Section 101 (20)(A) of CERCLA, 42 U.s.c. § 9601(20)(A). 

9. Section 102(a) of CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. § 9602(0), required the Admini,trator of 
EPA to publish a list of substances designated as haz,ardous ~ubstances which. when released 
into the environment. may present substantial danger to puhlic health or welfare or the 
environment and to promulgate regulations establishing the quantity of any hazardous substance 
the release of which was required to be reported ireder Section 103(a) of CERCLA, 42 U,S.C. 
§ 9603(a). BPi\ has published and .amended such a list, including the i.:orresponding reportable 
quantities (RQ) for those substances. This list, which is codified at 40 c.P.R. Part 302, was 
initially published on April 4, 1985 (SO Fed. Reg. (3474) and is periodically amended, 

10. Sec'tion 103(a) of CERCLA, 42 U.S.C, § 9603(a), and the regulations found at 
40 C.F.R § 302.6, require a person ill charge of a facility or vessel to inunediately notify the 
National Response Center (NRC), as soon as he or she has knowledge of a reJca!)e of a hazardous 
substance from such facility or vessel in an amount equal to, or grearer than the RQ. 

11. Respondent was in charge of the facility during the relevant period desl;ribed 
below, 

12. Ammonia is a "hazardous substance" as that tenn is defined by SC(.'tion 101(14) 
ofCF.RCLA, 42 U.S.c. § 9601(14), with anRQ of 100 pounds, lIS speoified in 40 c'ER. § 
302.4. 

13. On June 21. 2010. Respondent had a release of ammonia above the RQ at the 
facility. 

14. Respondent violated the notification requirements of Section 103(a) ofCERCLA. 
42 U.S.c. § 9603(.), by failing to immediately notify the NRC as soon as Respondent had 
knowledge of the release of ammonia in an amount equal to or greater than its RQ at 
Respondent's facility and is therefore ~ubject lo the a,,~essment of penalties under Section 109 of 
CERCLA,42 U.S,c. § 9609. 
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15. Pursuant to Section 109 of CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. § 9609. and 40 C.F.R. Part 19, 
EPA may assess a penalty not to exceed $37,500 for each violation of Section 103(a) of 
CERCLA,42 U.S.c. § 9603(.), that occurred after January 12,2009. Each day a violation of 
Section 103 continues ooostitute.s a separate violation. Civil penalties under Stx:tion 109 of 
CERCLA, 42 U.S.c. § 9609, may be assessed by Admini"r.tive Order. 

Yiol'l!ioj),S of Sectign 304(a) ofEPCRA 

16. Section 304(a) ofEPCRA, 42 U.S.C. §11004(a) and the regulations found at 
40 C.P.R. § 355, Subpart C, require the owner or operator of a facility at which hazardous 
chemicals are produced, used or stored. to immediately notify the State Emergency Re:;ponse 
Commission (SERe) and Local Emergency Planning Comn:littee (LEPC) when there has been a 
reiea<;;e of a CERCLA hazardous substance or an EPCRA extremely huardous s.ubstance in an 
amolUlt equal to or greater than the RQ. 

17. Respondent was the owner or operator of the facility during the relevant period, 
described below. 

18. At all times relevant to this mauer. the facility produced, used, or stored a 
"hazardous chemical" as defmed under Section 311(e) of EPCRA, 42 U.S.C. § lI021(e) and 
under 29 C.F.R. § 1910.1200(c). 

19. Amm011ia is an "extremely hazardolL" substance" as that term is defined by 
Section 329(3) of EPCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 11049(3), with an RQ of 100 pounds, as specil1ed in 40 
C.P.R. Part 355, Apps, A & B. 

20. On June 21. 2010, Respondent had a rei""", of ammonia ahove the RQ at the 
facility, 

21. Re,::;;pondent violated the notification requirements of Section 304{a) of EPCRA. 
42 U.S.c. §11004(a) by failing to immediately notify !he SERe and LEPC as soon as 
Respondent had knowledge of the release of ammonia in an amount equal to or greater than the 
RQ at Respondent'3 facility, and is therefore subject to the assessment of penalties under Section 
325 of EPCRA, 42 U.S.c. §11045. 

Vil)lations of ~.~Q4(c) of EPCRA 

22. Section 304«) of EPCRA, 42lJ.S.C. §11004(0) and tile regulations found at 
40 C.P.R. § 355, Subpart C, require !he owner or operator of a facility at which hazardous 
chemicals are produced, w;e:d Qr stored, to provide a written fQllow~up emergency notice to the 
SERe and LEPC when there has been a release of a CERCL\ hazardous subsUillce or an 
EPCRA extremely hazardous substance in an amount equal to or greater than the RQ. 

23. Respondent was the owner or operator of lhe faLility during the relevant period. 
described below. 
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24. At all times relevant to this matter. the facility produced, used. or stored 
"hazardous chemicals" as derIDed under Section 311(e) of EPCRA, 42 U,S,C. § 1I021(e) and 
under 29 c'F,R, § 191O,12oo(c), 

25. Ammonia is an "extremely hazardous :;ubstance" as that term is defined by 
Section 329(3) of EPCRA, 42 U,S,c, § 11049(3), wi.h an RQ of 100 pounds, as spcdHed in 40 
c'F,R. Part 355, API's, A & B. 

26. On June 21. 2010, Respondent had a release of ammonia above the RQ at the 
facility. 

27> Respondent violated the notification requIrements of SC'Ction 304(c) of BPCRA, 
42 U,S,C. § 11004(c). by failing to provide a written follow-up emergency notice to the Local 
Emergency Planning Committee (LEPC) when there had heen a release of ammonia in rul 
amount equal to or greater than the RQ at Respondent's facility, and is therefore subJec..1: to the 
assessment of penalties under Section 325 ofEPCRA, 42 U,S.C, §II045. 

28, Purs"ant to Section 325(b) of EPCRA, 42 U,S,c' § 1l045(b), and 40 C.F.R. 
Part 19, EPA may assess a penalty of not more than $37,500 for each violation of Section 304(a) 
and (e) of EPCRA. 42 U.S.c' § 1l004(a) that OCCUlTed after January 12,2009, Civil penalties 
under Section 325(b) ofEPCRA, 42 U.S,c, § 1l045(b), may be assessed by Administrative 
Order, 

V iolatiollS of Section 312 ofEPt:.:M 

29, Se<:tion 312 ofEPCRA, 42 U,S,C, § 11022, and the regulations found at 
40 C.F.R Part 370, provide that the owner or operator of a facility that is required to prepare or 
have available a Material Safety Data Sheet (MSDS) for hazardou.., chemicals under the 
Occupational Safety and Health Act of [970 (OSHA) and regulations promulgated under ~>at 
Act. shan submit to the Local Emergency Planning Comrnittre (LEPC), the State Emergency 
Response Commission (SERe), and the fire department with jurisdiction over the facility, by 
March 1, 1988, and on or before March 1 annualJy thereafter, a completed emergency and 
hazardous chemical inventory fonn (Tier I or Tier IT) as described in 40 C.ER. Part 370, 
containing the information required by that part for hazardous chemica1s present at the facility at 
auy one time in the calendar year in amounts equal to or greater than 10,000 pounds and 
containing the infonnation required by that part for extremely hazardous substances (EHS) 
present at the fa<..'ility at anyone time in amounts equal to or greater than the threshold plnnning 
quantity (TI'Q) or 500 peunds, whIchever is I"" •. 

30, At some time during the calendar year of 2009, ammonia was present at the 
facility in an amount equal to or greater than 500 pounds. 

3 L Ammonia is an "extreltlCly htl7M'dous dlemical" as defined under Section 329(3) 
of EPCRA, 42 U,S.C, § 11049(3). for which Respondent is required to prepare or have available 
an MSDS under OSHA at its facility, 
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32. Respondent fail~~d to submit a completed Emergency and Hazardous Chemical 
Inventory Fonn for ammonia to the SERe, the LEPC, and fire departmcnt with jurisdiction over 
the facility for calendar ye.ar 2009 by March 1 of the year foHowing the calendar year for which 
the report was required. 

33. Respondent violated the rCpolting requirements of Section 312 of EPCRA, 
42 U.S.C. § 11022. at its facility for calendar year 2009, and is therefore subject to the 
assessment of penalties under Se<lion 325 of EPCRA. 42 U.S.C. § 11045. 

34. Pursuant to Section 325(c) of EPCRA. 42 U.S.C. § 11045(c). and 40 C.F.R. Part 
19, f.PA may assess a penalty of not more than $37,500 for each viojation of Section 312 that 
occurred on or after January 12,2009. Each day a violation of Section 312 continues constitute:; 
a separate violation. Civil penalties under Section 325(c) of EPCRA. 42 U.S.C. § 1 1045(c), may 
be a&:lessOO by Admini~trative Order. 

IV, Copsent Agr~men! 

35. For the purposes of this CAFO, Re~pondent admits the jurisdictional allegations 
fiet out above but neither admits nor denies the factual aHcgations set out above. 

36. Respondent waives any right to contest the allegation~ and its right to appeal the 
proposed final order accompanying the Consent Agreement. 

37. Respondent consents to the assessment of and agrees to pay the civil penalty as 
,et forth in this CAFO. 

3&. Re~pondent certifies that as of the date of its execution of this CAPO, it is in 
compliance with ail relevant requirements of CERCLA and EPCRA. 

39. Compliance with the CAFO shan resolve the allegations of violations contained 
herein. This CAFO shan not otherwise affect any liability of Respondent to the United States 
other than as expressed herein. Neither EPA nor Complainant waives any right to bring an 
enforcement action against RcspOIirlent for violation of any federal or state statute, regulation or 
permit, to initiate an action for imminent and substantial endangerment, or to pursue criminal 
enforcement. 

40. Complainant a.nd Re~pondent agree to settle this matter by their execution of this 
CAFO. The parries agree that the settlement of this matter i~ in the public interest and that this 
CAPO is: consistcnt with the applicable requirements of CERCLA and EPCRA. 

v. Final Order 

41. Respondent shall pay a civil penalty of FIVE THOUSAND EIGIIT HUNDRED 
DOLLARS ($5,800 plus $16.10 interest) for the CERCLA violation which shall be paid in six 
(6) consecutive monthly payments with the flrst payment of $969.35 to be paid witnin 30 days of 
ratification of this CAFO: 
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1st payment due 30 dl1y~ $969.35 

2"d payment due 60 days $969.35 

3rd payment due 90 days $969.35 

4ili payment due 120 days $969.35 

3mpayment due 150 days $969.35 

6 th payment due ISO days $969.35 


42. Respondent shall pay the CERCL.o\ civil penalty by forwarding a cashier's or 
certified check. payable to "EPA Hazardous Substance SuperttUldn to one of the following 
addresses: 

BY MAn_ BY OVERNIGlIT 
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency U.S. Bank 
Superfund Payments Attention: Natalie Pearson (314) 418-4087 
Cincinnati Finance Center 1005 Convention Plaza 
P.O. Box 979076 Mail Station SL-MO·C2GL 

St. Louis, Missouri 63197·9000 St. Louis, Missouri 63101 


The cheek shall reference on it~ face the name and the Docket Number of the CAFO. 

43. Respondent shall pay an EPCRA civil pcnaltyof FlFTY SIX THOCSAND TWO 
HUNDRED DOLLARS ($56.200 plus $164.84 interest) for the EPCRA violations winch shall 
be paid in six (6) consecutive monthly payments with the first payment of $9.394.14 to be paid 
within 30 days of ratification of this CAFO: 

IS; payment due 30 days $9.394.14 
2"" payment due 60 days $9,394.14 
3'" payment due 90 days $9.394.14 
4" payment due 120 days $9,394.14 
5" payment due 150 days S9,394.14 
6th payment due 180 days $9,394.14 

44. Respondent shall pay the EPCRA penalty by forwarding a c..,hiel's or certified 
check payable to "Treasurer, United States of America," to one of the following addresses: 

BY MAIL BY OVERNIGlIT 
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency U.S. Bank 
Fines and Penalties Attention: Natalie Pearson (314) 418-4087 
Cincillllati Finance Center 1005 Convention Plaza 
P.O. Box 979077 Mail SWio" SL·MO·C2GL 

Sf. Louis, Missouri 63197 ~ 9000 St. Louu.. Missouri 63101 


The check shall reference on i" face the name and the Docket Number of the CAFO. 

45. At the time of payment. Respondent shall send ;it separate copy of each check. and 
a written statement that payment has been made in accordance with this CAFO. to !.he following 
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persons at the foHowing addresses: 

Regional Hearing Cleric 
U.S. EPA, Region 4 
61 Forsyth Street, S.W. 
Atlant'4 Georgia 30303 

De.anne D. Grant 
U.S.EPA. Region 4 
Air, Pesticide:; & Toxlc..~ Management Division 
61 Forsyth Street, S.W. 
Atlant'4 Georgia 30303 

Saundi Wil~on 
U.S. EPA, Region 4 
Office of Environmental Accountability 
61 Forsyth Street, S.W. 
Atlanta, Georgia 30303 

46. For the purpo:;es of state and federal income taxes, RcspondeJrt shaH not he 
entitled, and agrees not to auempt, to claim a deduction fOf any civil penalty payment made 
pursuant to this CAFO. Any attempt by Respondent to deduct any such payments shall 
constitute a violation of this CAFO. 

47. If Respondent fails to make nne of the installment payment!; in al;cordance with 
the schedule set forth above. and if such payment is not made within 30 days after the due date. 
that payment plus all subsequent payment. .. (the entire unpaid balance) and aU accmcd interest 
~haH become immediateiy due and payabJe on the 31st day from such due date. In addition. 
Responde-fit shall be liable for and shall pay administrative handling charges and late payment 
penalty charges as del)i.TIbed below in the event of any such failure or default. 

48. Further, if Respondent fails to pay the in~tallment payments in accordance with 
the schedule set forth a.bove. EPA may refer the debt to a collection agency, a credit reporting 
agency, or to the DepartIHcnt of Justice for filing of a collection action in the appropriate United 
States District Court. In any such collection action, the validity, amoWlt. and appropriateness of 
the assessed penalty and of this CAFO shall not he ;,uhject to review. 

49. Notwithst!lI1ding Respondent's agreement to pay the assessed civil penalty in 
accordance with the installment schedule set forth above. Respondent may pay the entire civil 
penalty of $5,800 for the CERCLA violation, and $56,200 for rhe EPCRA violations within 
thirty (30) calendar days after the date on which a copy of this CAPO is mailed or hand
delivered to Respondent and. thereby, avoid the payment of intere.st pursuant to 40 c.F.R. § 
13.11(a). In addition. Re8pondent may. at any time after conunencement of payments under the 
installment schedule, elect to pay the entire principal balance remaining. together with inter<!st 
accrued up to the date of such full payment. 
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50. Pursuantto 31 (;.S.c. § 3717 and 40 C.FR *13.11, EPA is entitled to assess 
interest and penalties on debts owed to the United States and a charge to cover the cost of 
processing and handling a delinquent claim. In accordance ...vith 40 C.F.R. § 13.11(a), interest on 
any civil penalty assessed in a CAFO begins to aCCnle on the date that a copy of the CAFO is 
mailed or hand-delivered to the Respondent, However, EPA will not seek to recover interest on 
any amount of such civil penalty that is paid within thirty (30) ""lemjar days after the date 011 

which such interest begins to accrue. fntere~t win be a.~~e:;~ at the rate of the Unilcd States 
Treasury tax and loan rate in acoord.""" with 40 C.ER. § 13.II(a). A charge will also be 
assessed to cover the admimstrative costs, hoth direct and indirect, of overdue debts. In addition. 
a late payment penalty chilTge shall be applied on any principal amount not paid within 90 days 
of the due date. 

51, ('.cmp1ainant and Respondent shan hear their own cost'> and attorney fees in this 
matter. 

52. . This CAFO shall be binding upon the Respondent, its successors and assigns, 

53, TIle following individual is authorized to receive service for EPA in this 
proceeding: 

Caron B. Falconer 
U.s. EPA, Region 4 
Air, Pesticides & Toxic Management Division 
61 Forsyth Street, SW. 
Atlanta, GA 30303 
(404) 562-8451 

54. Each undersigned representative of the parties to this CAFO certities that he or 
she is fully authorized by the party represented to enter into this CAFO and legally bind that 
party to i1. 

THIS SECTION INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 
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VI, Effective Date 

55. The effective date of this CAFO shall he the date on which the CAPO is filed with 
the Regional Hearing Clerk. 

AGREED AND CONSE1'ITED TO: 

Ruger W'ooq~lO<Is Inc. 

By: 

Name: -J.:a!V.L:LL~1/.,~~tl<:..tlc.~ (fyped or Printed) 

Title: 7'''',::" dJ (Typed OT Prioted) 

By: LfL&.d~~~~9!<g1ec~nc~y{Jj.fdd Date:~ 
Beverly H. Banister, DIrector \.f2d:5l. 

Air. Pesticides & Toxics U 


Management Division 

Region 4 

.J,I 

,\PPROVEDANDSOORDEREDthis 1- dayof lJ1~,201L 

~_4.~ 
Su~an B. Schub 
Regional Judicial Officer 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that I have !his uay served a true and correct copy of the foregoing 

Consent Agreement and Final Order, in the Maller of Rogcr Wood Foods Inc.. Docket No. 

~M:Q1-2011-2033(b), on the partie. listed below m the mllllller Indicated: 

Caron B, Falconer (Via EPA's internal mail) 
U.S. EPA. Region 4 

Air, Pesticides & Toxics Management Division 

6 J Forsyth Street 

Atlantn, GA 30303 


Robert Caplan (Via EPA's internal mail) 
U.5. EPA, Region 4 

Office of Environmental AccountabiHty 

61 Forsyth Street 

Atlanta, GA 30303 


David Solana (Via Certified Mail- Return Receipt Reque.ted) 

Roger Wood Foods Inc. 

7 Alfred Street 

Savannah, GA 31402 


3-)-/1Date: 
Patricia A. Bullock, Regionailleaxing Clerk 
United States Environmental 
Protection Agency, Region 4 
Atlanta Federal Center 
61 Fon;yth Street, S.W. 
Atlanta, GA 30303 
(404) 562-9511 
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EPA ACCOVNTS liKElYABLE COI'rl'ROL NUMBEIl FORM 

o 

TO !Ill COMPLETED BY TIlE QI!IIiJlIAIlNG 0fFlCi: 
\AttadI.~a(U.""""""'tr...... U......... &aDII.......,.,..) 	 i 


rhII .......__ ..,.s_·a_U_n_di_W_i_l_.""____	==________... ;;jJJU! 
tNaMe' in.) 

o ... __ 
o 	 ·Caot_.-_o ..... _biII ~ 

o Noe.......biI 

0""""	 o O,.:AcWItIIIIat .. C_...........

o 'l'IdIiI. I In .,1D-~---

'l"t.T... n.aw........aI ___".'1I1 (/~riJirf" ::t-j.'-,i,.I( 


{Irw.n t,1IlI.d _1'l1li,'.111 v M'" • , tw 	 _ s.""""_....._ 
'Tbo Co. _____-'t,,'.:."..:(:::·~.!:··..:Y.:.\~(",1_"U;,;.v:.;I:..I:.....:~'"'::.C",S:"~'-(:..'"'k,.1.)________ 
-n-suaSped&:&tpa,..~NN...'...._____________________ 

..:.: 
CcII*ti~iD'l'bdlMSAct ,I Iv U _____________"....______ 

U'CMI..... .,~IIIII~......aIr_ -

...._..I. 	 L Oriel I'd. om. (DlJtEa,,, t.W__ ',.,... .. Dds t~om. 
Oepal l"....WlMJ 
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